THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

S. Ct. Case No.: SC03-368

CASE NO.: 3D01-867

RODRIGO AGUILERA and PATRICIA AGUILERA, his wife,

Petitioner,

vs.

INSERVICES, INC. f/k/a MANAGED CARE USA SERVICES, INC., a North Carolina corporation, MIPPY HEALTH, individually,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

FRIEDMAN & FRIEDMAN
2600 Douglas Road, Suite 1011
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
(305) 446-6485

-and-

Lauri Waldman Ross, Esq. (Fla. Bar No.: 311200)
LAURI WALDMAN ROSS, P.A.
Two Datran Center, Suite 1612

9130 S. Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-8010

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The issues before this Court arose from an order denying a motion to dismiss Aguilera's amended complaint, based on workers compensation immunity. Fla. R. App. Proc. 9.130(1)(3)(c)(v) (effective January 1, 2001). For the purpose of the motion to dismiss, all facts set forth in Aguilera's "Amended Complaint for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress," are taken as true, and are detailed here.

On or about April 21, 1999, Plaintiff Rodrigo Aguilera was injured in a work-related accident. (App. 4). At the time of

¹ All references are to the respondent's appendix, filed as the record in this non-final appeal (App. 1-72), and the Supplemental Appendix submitted here which contains the District Court's two decisions. (S. App. 1-36).

the accident, Aguilera's employer had a contractual relationship with Managed Care USA Services, Inc. n/k/a Inservices, Inc. to provide workers compensation benefits to workers injured on the job. Plaintiff was an insured and/or intended third-party beneficiary of this contractual relationship, entitled by statute to receive the "quick and efficient delivery of ... medical benefits." §440.015, Fla. Stats. (1995) (App. 4).

Aguilera was injured at a Publix warehouse in North Miami when an electric fork lift operated by a Publix employee struck and pushed him into a pallet. He sustained immediate injuries to his back and right leg and was transported to Palmetto Hospital Emergency Room. Palmetto medical records reflected that, at the time, Plaintiff simply had blood in his urine. An emergency room physician diagnosed an infection and gave Plaintiff a prescription. On instruction of Defendant Inservices, which was supervising and controlling Plaintiff's medical care, Plaintiff was referred to a workers compensation clinic and, on May 12, 1999, was discharged to return to work with restrictions. (App. 5).

Aguilera subsequently began to complain of kidney and/or bladder pain. On May 24, 1999, Plaintiff's workers compensation attorney filed an initial "request for assistance," requesting Inservices' authorization for a board certified urologist to

examine and treat the Plaintiff. Aguilera's complaint alleged that, from that point forward, both Defendants did everything in their power to block medical treatment that it had actual notice he needed, recklessly endangered his life, and engaged in a pattern of action substantially certain to bring about his death. (App. 6).

Inservices first denied Aguilera any authorization for urological care, claiming this injury was not "work related." (App. 6). On June 17, 1999, Inservices was notified that Aguilera's urological care was an "emergency" because he was passing feces through his urine. On June 21, 1999, Aguilera was advised that his worker's compensation benefits were being terminated as of July 9, 1999, notwithstanding the report of two doctors, including Defendant's own doctor, that he should not be returned to work. On June 25, 1999, Inservices blocked Aguilera's receipt of the prescription medication prescribed to him at the hospital for his urinary tract infection. On June 30, 1999, the Defendant denied Aguilera's emergency request for urological care on the ostensible basis that it was not "medically necessary," even though Inservices had in possession medical care information showing exactly the opposite. (App. 5-6).

On July 7, 1999, Inservices was again advised by Plaintiff's

"urgent" and that his need for a urological consult was "urgent" and that his condition was "deteriorating." On July 9, 1999, Defendant's own doctor, Alan Dansky, gave Aguilera prescriptions for various urinary tests to take place, and the appointments were scheduled by Defendant's own nurse. In response, on July 29, 1999, Defendant's adjuster unilaterally cancelled some of the medical testing. The medical testing which was performed (a retrograde urethrogram) reflected that Aguilera had a fistula or hole in his bladder. (App. 7).

On August 6, 1999, Defendant Mippy Heath introduced herself as Defendant's new "case manager". She was specifically advised not to deal with Plaintiff directly. Heath agreed not to perform on site management services directly or to interfere with Aguilera's health care. (App. 7).

On August 19, 1999, Aguilera alerted the Defendant's adjuster that Plaintiff needed a general surgeon to perform emergency surgery on the fistula. (App. 7). Heath refused to authorize the emergency surgery and insisted on a second opinion. (App. 7).

In violation of her agreement with Aguilera's counsel, on August 25, 1999, Heath showed up for Aguilera's urology appointment with Defendant's IME urologist. Heath then advised the Plaintiff to lie to his own lawyer, and to falsely tell his

lawyer that she was not at the doctor's office. (App. 8, emphasis added).

Defendants insisted on the administration of tests that were painful to Aguilera and contraindicated by his then-present medical condition. Defendants then used Aguilera's refusal to submit to these painful tests as a further excuse to refuse his now-critical surgical treatment. (App. 8, ¶22).

By November 4th 1999, Defendant's own case manager and nurse practitioner agreed that Plaintiff needed immediate hospitalization for surgery. (App. 8). Defendant's adjuster overruled its nurse because it ostensibly wanted a second opinion from a general surgeon. However, Defendant then sent Aguilera to a gastroenter-ologist, not a general surgeon. At this point, Aguilera had been urinating feces and blood for over six months. (App. 8).

Aguilera's surgery, diagnosed as an "emergency" in June of 1999, was not authorized by the Defendants or treated by surgery until March 22, 2000. By this time, Aguilera had been urinating feces and blood for over 10 months. By this time, at the Defendant carrier's insistence, Plaintiff had seen six doctors in addition to his initial treating physician. All who examined him concluded that Plaintiff's physical injuries were related to the accident and needed urgent surgical treatment. (App. 9).

Defendant's own selected physicians examined the Plaintiff and recommended emergency surgery. (App. 9). However, the Defendant refused the recommendations of their own physicians for some two months. The delay created substantially certain **additional** physical injury - well beyond that originally created in the workplace - and caused the Plaintiff to suffer extreme emotional distress. (App. 9).

Plaintiff filed the instant case against the Defendants for common law bad faith, intentional infliction of emotional distress and breach of contract. Aguilera sought inter alia damages for emotional distress and other harm caused by Defendants' intentional acts, and reckless indifference to Plaintiffs' plight during the investigation and the course of payment on Plaintiff's worker's compensation claim, subsequent to and distinct from Aguilera's original on-the-job physical injury. (App. 5). Aguilera asserted special damages, including the fact that his extreme emotional distress prevented his timely rehabilitation, and kept him from going back to work, destroyed his economic situation, and his credit. (App. 14, ¶37).

In Count V for declaratory judgment and supplemental relief, Aguilera sought a determination that, to the extent that the workers compensation statute, as amended in 1994, purports to

eliminate all common law claims against a workers compensation carrier, including claims when an injured worker is injured by the subsequent malfeasance of a carrier, §440.11(4), Fla. Stats. is unconstitutional under Article I, §22, Fla. Const. Plaintiff relied, for his analysis, on a recent Indiana case addressing the issue. See Sims v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co., 730 N.E. 2d 232 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000)².

The Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint on various grounds, including the defense of workers compensation immunity.

(App. 32-34). In a three page order, the trial court denied Defendants' motion to dismiss and reasoned as follows:

In order for a Plaintiff to prevail in a tort claim which arises out of an injury at work, Plaintiff must show that there was a clear delay in medical help and payment and that the delay was outrageous, fraudulent, deceitful, or was an intentional infliction of emotional distress. Montes de Oca v. Orkin, 692 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), rehearing denied 699 So. 2d 257.

The Court applies the following facts to the law: the refusal for nearly a year to provide emergency surgery, the needless suffering of the Plaintiff, the Defendants insistence on tests for conditions which were not the problem, the lengthy delay causing further risk to Plaintiff's life. There is no question that there was an extended delay in emergency medical help for the Plaintiff. Additionally, the facts show

² Since reversed on appeal. <u>Sims v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co.</u>, 782 N.E. 2d 345 (Ind. 2003).

an outrageous denial of medical services which led to the intentional infliction of emotional distress over the continuous and debilitating physical health of Plaintiff.

Florida has clung to the exclusivity of the Workers Compensation Statute with just reason in order to afford workers a simple method of payment for job related injuries. this state has not said that However, outrageous conduct will not be treated in system of justice in an evenhanded fashion. Αt some point, а compensation claim may escalate into a tort action for conduct that far exceeds standards of humanity. This is that case!

An additional factor must be considered. The Defendants, at one point in this lengthy fight for medical help, decided that the illness suffered by Plaintiff was not even work related. At another point, Plaintiff was notified that his workers compensation benefits were being cancelled. A further reason to deny Defendant's motion to dismiss is that they alleged that this was not a workers compensation claim and that the Plaintiff entitled was not to **benefits.** (App. 64-66).

The Defendants appealed the denial of their motion to dismiss, claiming they were entitled to the defense of workers compensation immunity as a matter of law. (App. 1-2).

On October 31, 2001, the Third District Court of Appeals issued its first (split) decision. Writing for the majority, Judge Shevin quoted this Court's decision in <u>Turner v. PCR</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683, 684 (Fla. 2000), which "reaffirm[ed] the existence of an intentional tort exception to an employer's

immunity, and h[e]ld that the conduct of the employer must be evaluated under an objective standard." Applying such standard, the facts, as alleged by Aguilera, "went beyond mere claims handling allegations" and asserted intentional tortious behavior by Inservices and its case manager "who went so far as to show up for Aguilera's urologist appointment and suggest that he lie to his attorney and say she was never there." (S. App. 25). These independent acts rose to the level of intentional torts and were not protected by worker's compensation immunity. (S. App. 25-26).

According to this panel, Defendants' conduct met the <u>Turner</u> test. It was substantially certain to cause serious injury or death - and involved a degree of deliberate and wilful indifference. (S. App. 27). The panel concluded, as a matter of law and public policy, that:

Any alternative holding would require us to adopt Defendants' argument that once an employee files a claim, the employee has already been injured and the carrier is free to proceed and behave in any manner it desires. We cannot fathom that this was the intent of the legislature in creating the workers compensation scheme. We decline to so hold here. (S. App. 28).

Nor did it matter that this action was against the workers compensation carrier and its case manager, not Aguilera's employer. (S. App. 26). If the carrier is shielded by the same

immunity as the employer, the carrier is subject to the same exceptions for intentional torts. (S. App. 27).

The majority thus affirmed the denial of the Defendants' motion to dismiss the intentional infliction count, but reversed with directions to dismiss the remaining counts which did not rise to the level of actionable intentional torts. (S. App. 28). This included Aguilera's constitutionality claim. (App. 17-18; S. App. 28). Judge Gersten filed an extensive dissent, outlining ostensible "remedies" in the workers' compensation act that Aguilera could pursue. (S. App. 29-36).

The Defendants moved for rehearing, rehearing *en banc* and certification of a question of exceptional importance and, on December 26, 2002, the Court withdrew its prior opinion and adopted Judge Gersten's dissent as the new majority opinion. (S. App. 1-19, 29-36).³

The new panel majority recognized the trial court's finding that "intentional outrageous conduct on the part of the Defendants escalated th[is] workers compensation claim into a tort action." (S. App. 3-4). It also acknowledged that a workers' compensation carrier is **not** immune for all intentional torts. (S. App. 6). It recognized that Sibley v. Adjustco,

³ Senior Judge Joseph Nesbitt was the swing vote on both panel's decisions.

Inc., 596 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 1992) stands for the proposition that "an adjuster who fraudulently edited the statement of a claimant ... result[ing] in the denial of benefits constitutes an intentional act independent of the handling of a workers compensation claim," adding that "The workers compensation scheme does not immunize a compensation carrier from wrongdoing which occurs independent of claims handling." (S. App. 6). While it "empathize[d] with Aguilera's plight in resolving his medical problems," (App. 4) it concluded that Aguilera had no common law intentional tort claim because the "worker's compensation act "contain[ed] provisions addressing his allegations...". (App. 7).

Among other things, the panel pointed to §440.104, Fla. Stats. (2000), which criminalizes "lies" regarding available benefits and subjects a workers compensation carrier to penalties. (App. 7, n.2). However, all of the allegations, including lying to Aguilera about existing benefits and instructing him to lie to his own lawyer, could not be deemed truly "independent" intentional torts. (S. App. 8-9).

The new panel majority likewise concluded that <u>Turner v. PCR, Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000) had no application to this case, reasoning that:

[I]nservices had no part in causing Aguilera's injuries. Aguilera would have

needed medical care with or without Inservices' alleged misconduct. Thus, there is no separate act, independent from Inservices handling of the claim, which injured or "to a substantial certainty" would have caused Aguilera's injuries.... (S. App. 8).

It reiterated, once again, that "other remedies for Aguilera's claims are provided for by the Act." (S. App. 8). The new majority opinion may no mention and *sub silentio* required dismissal of Aguilera's constitutionality claim. (S. App. 1-8).

In a vigorous dissent, Judge Shevin disagreed, noting that "The majority opinion ignores the impact of <u>Turner</u>, and apparently agrees with the defendants' argument that once an employee files a claim, the employee has already been injured, and the carrier is free to behave in any manner it desires." (S. App. 19). Judge Shevin "[could] not fathom that this was the intent of the legislature in creating the workers compensation scheme" and "decline[d] to say so here." (S. App. 19). Judge Shevin wrote that Aguilera's facts, evaluated under the appropriate <u>Turner</u> standard, went well beyond "mere claims handling allegations" and asserted an actionable intentional tort, which fell outside the scope of worker's compensation immunity. (S. App. 11, 16). This included intentional tortious behavior by Inservices, and its case manager "who went so far as

to show up at Aguilera's urologist appointment and suggest that he lie to his attorney and say she was never there." (S. App. 16).

Judge Shevin also concluded that the "remedies" outlined by the majority did not compensate Aguilera for the injuries he sustained at the carrier's hands, (S. App. 18-19) and that "here, as in <u>Sibley</u>, the independent tort should not be blocked by the improper application of the immunity." (S. App. 19).

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a District Court decision which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court on the same issue of law. Fla. Const. art. V. §3(b)(3). Decisional conflict may be created by a conflict in legal principles appearing on the face of the decision OR the misapplication of a specific holding previously announced by this Court. See Rosen v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 802 So. 2d 291, 292 (Fla. 2001); Vest v. Travelers Ins. Co., 753 So. 2d 1270, 1272 (Fla. 2000); Arab Termite and Pest Control of Florida, Inc. v. Jenkins, 409 So. 2d 1039, 1040 (Fla. 1982) (district court's misapplication of this Court's holding created conflict jurisdiction).

Section 440.105(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (2000) makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly make false statements for the

purpose of denying workers compensation benefits. However, that remedy is **not** exclusive and does not preclude a common law intentional tort action. See Sibley v. Adjustco, Inc., 596 So. 2d at 1051 (interpreting predecessor statute §440.37, Fla. Stat. (1989)). There can be no meaningful distinction between editing a claimant's statement to leave out material facts, and lying to the claimant directly about the benefits he has available. Both constitute independent, intentional torts.

This Court has recognized an intentional tort exception to workers compensation immunity. Turner v. PCR, Inc., 754 So. 2d 683, 686-87 (Fla. 2000). Based on the facts as alleged, the intentional tort exception applies. The impact of the District Court's decision cannot be minimized - it authorizes torture in the state of Florida, because it leaves the carrier "free to behave in any manner it desires." (S. App. 19). This cannot be the legislature's intent in creating the workers compensation scheme.

The Third District's misapplication of <u>Turner</u> and <u>Sibley</u> creates express, direct conflict and warrants the further exercise of this court's jurisdiction here.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Florida's workers compensation scheme was designed to assure the quick and efficient delivery of medical and disability

benefits to an injured worker, and facilitate the workers' speedy return to work, at a reasonable cost to his employer. In exchange for such benefits, both the employer and its workers compensation carrier are protected by immunity. However, neither are protected by immunity for their intentional torts. In <u>Turner v. PCR, Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000), this Court squarely held that an employee plaintiff should not be held to a higher standard than any other plaintiff in a non-work related intentional tort case. The District Court, in this intentional tort case, did precisely that. The District Court's dismissal of this tort count flies in the face of <u>Turner</u> and should be quashed.

Nor can the result reached by the District Court be justified by resort to "other remedies" in the workers compensation act. Section 440.105, Fla. Stat. (2000) is the statutory successor to §440.37, Fla. Stat. which this Court construed in Sibley v. Adjustco, Inc., 596 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 1992). In Sibley, this Court concluded that §440.37 "provides only an alternative cause of action" and not an exclusive cause of action, and that the workers compensation statutory provisions were not intended to bar recovery for intentional tortious conduct. Id. at 1051. The Third District's decision follows the analysis this Court rejected in Sibley. Once again,

the district court looked to the worker's compensation act as providing an exclusive remedy for misconduct in the rendition of medical care. Once again, the district court looked to a criminal statute as a sole basis for recourse where a carrier lied to and abused a claimant. Once again, the district court was incorrect, and its decision should be quashed.

There can be no meaningful distinction between editing a claimant's statement to leave out material facts so he can be deprived of benefits, and lying to the claimant directly or instructing him to lie. Both use false and fraudulent means to deprive the claimant of necessary medical care.

In 1985, Florida recognized the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress — a tort which has long been applied to outrageous conduct by insurance carriers. "The combination of the unjustified assertion of power by one party," coupled with impotence on the part of the other "is one which should be viewed by a civilized community as outrageous," and not "as an indignity, annoyance or petty oppression for which the law affords no relief." Dominguez v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of U.S., 438 So. 2d 58, 59 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), approved sub nom, Crawford & Co. v. Dominguez, 467 So. 2d 281 (Fla. 1985). The trial court, and Judge Shevin's dissent were both right in concluding that the Defendants outrageous conduct

here "far exceeds standards of humanity."

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