SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODRIGO AGUILERA and PATRICIA AGUILERA, his wife,

Petitioners, S. Ct. No.: SC03-368

VS.

INSERVICES, INC. f/k/a MANAGED CARE USA SERVICES, INC., a North Carolina corporation, MIPPY HEATH, individually,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Joshua D. Lerner

Florida Bar No. 455067

RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL

Brickell Bayview Centre, Suite 3000

80 S.W. 8th Street (33130-3047)

Post Office Box 01-9041

Miami, Florida 33101

Telephone: (305) 358-5577

Telecopier: (305) 371-7580

Attorneys for Inservices, Inc. and

Mippy Heath

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

Chapter 440, Florida Statutes, the legislature endeavored to create a comprehensive system for the administration (including adjustment) of workers' compensation benefits.

Insurance carriers are an integral part of this comprehensive, "efficient and self-executing system." § 440.015, Fla. Stat. (1997). Section 440.38 requires employers to secure payment of workers' compensation by purchasing insurance or by receiving authorization from the Division of Workers' Compensation to pay such compensation directly. Where the employer has purchased insurance, its insurer (1) must discharge the obligations and duties of the employer under the Act, (2) is subject to the jurisdiction of the Office of the Judges of Compensation Claims, and (3) is bound by the orders, findings and decisions of Judges of Compensation Claims to the same extent as the employer. § 440.41, Fla. Stat. (1997). The legislature has further mandated that every policy of workers' compensation insurance contain a provision to carry out the requirements of section 440.41. § 440.42, Fla. Stat. (1997).

The Act also provides for the regulation of compensation carriers in Florida. All carriers desiring to write workers' compensation insurance in Florida must register with the Division of Workers' Compensation; and the Division has the power to revoke the authority of a carrier to write workers' compensation insurance in the event it fails to comply with its obligations under the Act. § 440.52, Fla. Stat. (1997). The Division has the statutory authority to examine an insurance carrier "as often as is warranted to ensure that carriers are fulfilling their obligations under the law" § 440.525, Fla. Stat. (1997).

Consistent with its intent to create an "efficient and self executing system," the legislature has unequivocally stated that the remedies to which a compensation claimant is entitled in the event of misconduct by a carrier shall *only* be as provided in the Act. Section 440.11(4), Florida Statutes (1997) expresses this intention in easily understandable language: "Notwithstanding the provisions of s. 624.155, the liability of a carrier to an employee or to anyone entitled to bring suit in the name of the employee shall be as provided in this chapter, which shall be exclusive and in place of all other liability."

The legislature has thus stated the only remedies available to a compensation claimant from compensation carriers are those provided in Chapter 440, Florida Statutes. And, further fulfilling its intention to create "an efficient and self-executing [i.e., comprehensive] system," the legislature has created remedies for carrier misconduct. These remedies address the type of misconduct plaintiffs allege in their amended complaint.

First, if a carrier "lies" regarding available benefits, sections 440.105(1)(a) and (b)(1-2) make such statement a criminal offense and subjects a carrier to penalties. Section 440.106(3) permits the Department of Insurance to revoke or suspend the authority of a workers' compensation carrier for violation of section 440.105.

If a workers' compensation carrier wrongfully attempts to or deprives or ignores a request for medical treatment, a claimant has a number of remedies. Section 440.20 sets a deadline for the timely payment of compensation claims and establishes penalties for late payments. Section 440.34(3) allows a claimant to recover attorneys'

fees from the carrier in a claim for medical benefits. Further, section 440.192 provides a procedure for resolving any benefit disputes between a carrier and a claimant and sets strict deadlines for dispute resolution.

Under the Act, a carrier may request an independent medical examination concerning compensibility or medical benefits. § 440.13, Fla. Stat. (1997). However, if a claimant believes the exam would be inconsistent with his medical condition, he can seek relief from a judge of compensation claims who has the power to deny a carrier's request. *Watkins Eng'rs & Constructors v. Wise*, 698 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Fla. R. Work. Comp. P. 4.065(b).

Whether it meets the liking of employees, employers or courts, the legislature has stated in section 440.11(4) that a carrier shall have no liability to a compensation claimant other than as provided in the Act. This must include liability for injuries occurring after the compensable on-the-job injury because there is no other injury for which a carrier might be liable. Carriers do not become involved in compensation claims until after the compensable on-the-job injury; there would be no reason for the legislature to extend immunity to a carrier unless that immunity encompassed conditions occurring after the injury giving rise to the claim. To hold, as plaintiffs urge, that the immunity created in section 440.11(4) applies only to compensable on-the-job accidents would eviscerate the statute.

It is also apparent that carrier immunity under the Act includes immunity for intentional conduct. Carriers act intentionally when they make decisions in the process of adjusting a claim. That the statute expressly extends immunity to a claim

for bad faith under section 624.155, Florida Statues reflects an intent that the remedies for claims handling misconduct, even if intentional or reckless, . . . "shall be as provided in this chapter, which shall be exclusive and in place of all other liability." § 440.11(4), Fla. Stat. (1997) The statute is clear, unambiguous and, as a derogation of the common law, must be strictly construed. It is not for the courts to second guess the legislature.

B. Every Court Considering the Issue Has Held, Like the Court Below, A Workers' Compensation Carrier is Immune Under Florida Law From Suit For Claims Handling Practices.

In the approximately 24 years before the lower court issued its decision in this case, four different courts in six separate cases considered whether a workers' compensation insurer is immune from suit for alleged misconduct in the administration of benefits to an injured employee. In every one of these cases, the court ruled, based upon Florida's comprehensive workers' compensation scheme, that a compensation insurer is immune from such an action. Each court reached this result notwithstanding the egregiousness of the alleged misconduct, the alleged intentional nature of the misconduct, or the tragic consequences resulting from it. The fact that not even one of these courts has allowed a cause of action like the instant one to proceed compels the conclusion that the decision below is correct and that plaintiffs' position is mistaken.

In 1979, the fourth district reviewed an order dismissing an action against a workers' compensation insurer for wrongful failure to authorize necessary medical treatment in connection with a claim for workers' compensation benefits. *Sullivan v.*

Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 367 So. 2d 658 (4th DCA), cert. den., 378 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 1979). There the court held the employee's sole remedy for the misconduct alleged was under the Workers' Compensation Act. Id. at 659. The court noted the first district had previously determined in Warwick v. Hudson Pulp & Paper Co. Inc.² that workers' compensation liability extends to injuries and aggravation of injuries resulting from medical treatment rendered incidental to a compensable injury. From there the court extrapolated: the employee's "injuries arising from medical treatment, or lack thereof, rendered incidental to his original injury, are likewise compensable by his employer and his employer's carrier . . .," and such relief is his sole remedy. 367 So. 2d at 660. Although the fourth district decided *Sullivan* before the enactment of section 440.11(4), based on its examination of the Workers' Compensation Act as a whole, it found "numerous expressions of intent by the legislature to apply the same liabilities and immunities to the carrier as are applied to the employer." 367 So. 2d at 660. The court also relied upon the following public policy considerations which also apply in this case:

But, beyond the legalistic objection to appellant's position, we must point out that if delay in medical service attributable to a carrier could give rise to independent third party court actions, the system of workmen's compensation could be subjected to a process of partial disintegration. In the practical operation of the plan, minor delays in getting medical service, such as for a few days or a even a few hours, caused by a carrier, could become the bases of independent suits, and these could be many and manifold indeed. The uniform and exclusive application of the law would become honeycombed with independent and

-

² 303 So. 2d 701 (1st DCA 1974), cert. denied, 314 So. 2d 776 (Fla. 1975)

conflicting rulings of the courts. The objective of the Legislature and the whole pattern of workmen's compensation could thereby be partially nullified.

It is true, however that, as appellant argues, insurance adjusters should obtain no sanction in overruling or 'directing competent physicians and surgeons.' Flagrant interference by a carrier with rendition of medical care, such as described in this complaint, should generate swift relief in the commission. The courts support the commission in affording it.

367 So. 2d at 660-661, quoting *Noe v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 342 P.2d 976, 979-80 (Cal. 1959) (e.s.).

Finally, *Sullivan* affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the employee plaintiff made insufficient allegations to come within any intentional tort exception to the statutory immunity. Plaintiff alleged the insurer intentionally withdrew authorization for medical treatment but not that it intentionally injured the employee. This is like the instant case.

Several years later, the third district decided *Old Republic Ins. Co. v.* Whitworth, 442 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In that case a workers' compensation claimant sued his employer's compensation carrier on causes of action including outrage. Plaintiff alleged the carrier willfully breached its obligations to make payments due under the Workers' Compensation Act. The third district granted a petition for writ of prohibition after concluding the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. The court noted a workers' compensation commissioner formally found that the carrier acted in bad faith by delaying disability payments. The compensation

commissioner awarded extensive benefits and imposed stringent penalties, costs and attorney's fees as a sanction. There was, therefore, no doubt that intentional misconduct in handling of the claim had occurred. Nonetheless, the court was constrained to deny the employee access to the circuit court:

It is well established that because the Workers' Compensation Act provides a comprehensive, exclusive and adequate administrative remedy for employees' work-related claims, the Circuit Court is without jurisdiction over an employee's action for additional damages for injuries covered by the Act.

Id. at 1079 (citations omitted). Accordingly, in order to determine whether the compensation claimant could proceed in circuit court,³ the third district considered whether his injury, allegedly resulting from the tort of outrage, was "covered by the Act." *Id.*

The court had no difficulty in concluding that it was. Judge Daniel Pearson wrote for the court:

The injury for which [plaintiff employee] Byrd sought recovery in the Circuit Court was Old Republic's alleged bad faith refusal to timely compensate him for his disabilities, an injury which is compensable under the Act, and one for which the deputy commissioner in fact imposed punitive costs and attorneys' fees in the compensation proceedings. Plainly, then, the injury is covered by the Act, and a compensation claimant cannot avoid the exclusivity of the Act and transform a delay in payments into an actionable tort cognizable in the Circuit Court simply by calling that delay outrageous, fraudulent, deceitful, or an

³ That this court held in *Mandico v. Taos Construction, Inc.*, 605 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1992), that prohibition is not the proper appellate remedy for review of an order denying workers' compensation immunity is inconsequential to the substantive immunity questions presented in this case.

intentional infliction of emotional distress.

Id. (e.s.) The court found support for its analysis in provisions of the Act that give the Division of Workers' Compensation authority to punish recalcitrant insurers and in the first district's decision in *Florida Erection Services, Inc. v. McDonald*, 395 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In that case, the court held the Workers' Compensation Act was broad enough to provide the workers' compensation division with sufficient authority to punish a carrier for willful and intentional bad faith without going outside the parameters of workers' compensation law. The *Old Republic* court also noted that decisions from other jurisdictions agreed with its result. *Id.* at 1080.

The plaintiff in *Old Republic*, like the plaintiff in *Sullivan* and in the instant case, sought to evade the exclusivity of the workers' compensation law by alleging intentional harm. The court accurately concluded plaintiff alleged no more than "intentional non performance of a statutory duty imposed by the Act." *Id.* at 1081. To support its conclusion that such allegations were insufficient to come within the intentional tort exception to immunity, the court relied in part upon the California decision of *Everfield v. State Compensation Insurance Fund*, 115 Cal. App. 3d 15, 171 Cal. Rptr. 164 (Cal. App. 2d Dist. 1981) which was "virtually identical to the case before" it. *Id.*

In *Everfield*, the plaintiff alleged the carrier had intentionally, fraudulently, and in bad faith with intent to injure him, consistently delayed payment, arbitrarily

reduced amounts paid and disregarded a subpoena duces tecum, causing him physical and emotional damages. The California court concluded plaintiff had described claims handling misconduct but the addition of the words "fraudulent, deceitful and intentional" simply asserted the subjective characterization of the plaintiff rather than describing the actual conduct that had occurred.

If every case in which there is a delay, a change of amount . . . could be brought into court by an unhappy worker by merely alleging that the acts were intentional, deceptive, outrageous and fraudulent without alleging the specific conduct and how it was carried out . . . it would make a shambles of the workers' compensation system The reasons for the delay, whether intentional or negligent, whether excusable or not, can be well inquired into by the board and where necessary, discipline imposed.

171 Cal. Rptr. at 165-66, quoted in *Old Republic*, 442 So. 2d at 1081. In *Old Republic*, the third district concluded Florida's workers' compensation law "contains mechanisms to ensure timely payment and provides an array of sanctions which may be imposed when a carrier wrongfully withholds payment. Because the availability of these sanctions gives . . . an adequate remedy under the Act, the remedy under the Act is exclusive." *Id.* at 1083.

Following *Old Republic*, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit reviewed an action for, among other legal theories, intentional infliction of emotional distress against a workers' compensation carrier for mishandling a claim and intentionally mistreating the injured claimant and his wife. *Connolly v. Maryland Casualty Co.*, 849 F.2d 525 (11th Cir. 1988) *cert, denied*, 489 U.S. 1083, 109 S. Ct.

1539, 103 L. Ed. 2d 843 (1989). There the trial court dismissed the complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because the exclusive remedy for a Florida employee covered by workers' compensation insurance is contained in the Florida Workers' Compensation Act. Dispassionately applying the law, as courts - particularly when deciding purely legal questions — must do, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed notwithstanding its acknowledgement that the alleged facts were "egregious." 849 F.2d at 525.

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